71518-6

71518-6

 \mathbb{C}^{2}

NO. 71518-6-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

STEVEN KAYSER,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR WHATCOM COUNTY

The Honorable Deborra Garrett, Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LENELL NUSSBAUM Attorney for Appellant

Market Place One, Suite 330 2003 Western Ave. Seattle, WA 98121 (206) 728-0996

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. There was insufficient evidence as a matter of law to support the conviction.

2. Appellant assigns error to the court's failure to instruct on defense of property.

3. Appellant was denied effective assistance of counsel when his attorney asked the court to delete defense of property from the jury instructions.

Appellant assigns error to Instruction
 No. 5, quoted in full below. CP 29.

Appellant assigns error to Instruction
 No. 6, quoted in full below. CP 30.

6. The court erred by admitting into evidence a note found inside the defendant's office that was never seen by the complaining witness. Exs. 90-91.

7. The court erred by not granting a mistrial for erroneously admitting Exs. 90-91.

8. The court commented on the evidence and vouched for a witness by informing the jury that a detective sitting at counsel table, like the prosecutor, also represented the State of Washington.

- 1 -

Issues Relevant to the Assignments of Error

1. Where the complaining witness testified the defendant fired all three shots into the air and did not intentionally aim the gun at him, is the evidence sufficient to support a conviction of assault?

2. Was appellant entitled to an instruction on defense of property where the complaining witness entered his property to serve process, but did not leave when told after completing service?

3. Was defense counsel ineffective for withdrawing an instruction on defense of property after arguing throughout trial that was a defense theory and the instruction was needed?

4. Did withdrawal of an instruction on defense of property reduce the State's burden of proving the elements of second degree assault?

5. Did the to-convict instruction deny appellant due process by not requiring the State to prove the assault was "intentional," and not requiring it to prove the absence of self-defense?

6. Did the trial court erroneously admit a piece of paper not displayed and never seen by the

complaining witness, suggesting the defendant would use a gun regardless of the threat?

7. Did the court improperly comment on the evidence and vouch for a police witness by permitting him to sit at counsel table and telling the jury he represented the State of Washington, the same as the prosecutor?

B. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

1. SUBSTANTIVE FACTS

a. Background

Steven Kayser is an inventor. Born in 1944, now 70 years old, he was raised on an Iowa farm to be self-reliant and work hard. He worked full-time since he was nine years old. At age 18 he enlisted in the United States Air Force, serving 1965-69. He later earned degrees in accounting, business and taxation. RP 814-18.

After being a tax partner in a large firm in San Diego, Mr. Kayser worked privately as a forensic accountant. RP 818-19. In the early to mid-1980s, he was a cooperating witness and whistle blower with the FBI and United States Attorney's Office on criminal bankruptcy fraud matters. In

- 3 -

connection with that work he received death threats. RP 821.

About 2002 he began inventing safety dental products for prison inmates. The products cannot be converted to a weapon; they are a commercial success. This has been his exclusive business since 2004-05. He continues inventing. He owns many patents, trademarks, copyrights and trade secrets. Some of his products have been counterfeited, and he has been involved in related litigation. RP 818-20, 822.

In 2006 he moved to Whatcom County near He bought property with a home and a Ferndale. barn, which he could use as an office and warehouse for his business and inventions. The property has a large gate with prominent no-trespassing signs. Exs. 71-77. The warehouse contains many of his trade secrets and inventions. He keeps the building locked at all times. Plywood covers the windows and doors so people cannot see in. He opens wooden blinds on the office windows during the day, but otherwise they are shut. RP 819-20.

In 2007, Mr. Kayser married Gloria Young. She was born in China, but taught much of her adult

- 4 -

life in urban Virginia. The Ferndale property was her first experience in country living. RP 744-49.

b. February 18, 2010

In late 2009-early 2010, Mr. Kayser referred a fraud and counterfeiting matter to the Seattle United States Attorney, FBI, U.S. Customs Enforcement, and the FDA Criminal Investigations Unit. He anticipated retaliation. RP 821-22.

Ms. Young saw a strange car parked on their property near the road. It hadn't pulled up to the front of the warehouse or the house, as most people did who came to visit. RP 781-91, 753-55, 308, 323; Exs. 6, 11, 14, 22, 32.

She saw a burly man with long hair and unkempt clothes go up to the warehouse. He looked into a boarded window. He tried the handle on a locked door. Then he walked around the building and out of sight, to an area where there was only a propane tank. RP 753-55, 781-85, 308-09, 327, 355, 364.

Ms. Young quickly went into the house, locked the door, and phoned Mr. Kayser in his office. She asked if he was expecting anyone. He said no. She told him there was a large man snooping around, looking into boarded windows, trying to jimmy a locked door. Ms. Young was very scared. RP 757-58, 771-72, 792-98.

Ms. Young saw the man walk towards Mr. Kayser's office. She stepped outside and walked slowly toward the man to distract him. She was much smaller than he was. RP 308-09.¹ She was scared of him, but shouted, "Who are you, what do you want?" RP 759.

The man, later identified as Mark Adams, didn't answer her questions, which made her more frightened. RP 332. She was on high alert waiting for Mr. Kayser to come out of his office. RP 759-60.

The man walked toward Ms. Young. He called out, "Are you Mrs. Kayser?" She said yes, her name was Gloria Young. He handed her some papers. Without her reading glasses, she couldn't read them. She asked what they were. She saw he had something shiny in his hand. RP 760-61, 799-801, 248-62, 307, 337-39. Even Mr. Adams acknowledged his behavior could have scared a 75-year-old woman. RP 332-34.

¹ Gloria Young was 5' tall and 75 years old. Mr. Kayser was 5'5". RP 235.

Mr. Kayser came out of his office, walked toward the house, and was shocked to see Ms. Young outside. About two feet away facing her was a big man who looked like a biker, hair blowing in the breeze, with a beard. Mr. Kayser didn't understand why this man was so close to his wife. The man turned to face him. RP 824-25.

Mr. Kayser called out, "Can I help you?" The man did not respond, did not identify himself or say why he was there. RP 340-41. Mr. Kayser became more anxious as he approached. Ms. Young was looking down, starting to cry. She looked very submissive. The man asked if he was Steven Kayser. Mr. Kayser responded, "Yes, Steven Kayser. Can I The man took 2-3 steps toward Mr. help you?" Kayser and handed him some papers. Mr. Kayser, sensing something was wrong, grabbed the papers, never taking his eyes off the man. RP 825-28, 262-66, 341-42.

The man took several steps back toward Ms. Young. He held a metal container, and he began to open it and reach in. Mr. Kayser immediately thought, "Gun, gun, gun." RP 763-64. Mr. Kayser couldn't see what he had. He said loudly, "You've

- 7 -

got five seconds to get off the property." RP 828, 267-68, 334-35, 342, 738.

The man didn't move. Mr. Kayser repeated his warning. The man still did not move or say anything. RP 828-29, 763-65.

Mr. Kayser quickly ran to his office and got his shotgun from behind the door. He ran back up the steps to where the man still stood with his hand in the metal container. Mr. Kayser again said he had five seconds to get off the property, and started counting. RP 829.

Mr. Kayser was very frightened. He saw Ms. Young standing there. He thought of her high blood pressure. The man seemed to be smirking at him. Mr. Kayser counted again. When the man did nothing, he shot the gun up into the air, over the garage roof, pointing to the sky. RP 271. The man started laughing at Mr. Kayser. RP 830-32.

Mr. Kayser repeated his warning and counted again. After five, he shot again. He did not point the gun at the man. Now the man moved. He took his hand out of the container, closed it, and walked slowly on the gravel. RP 765-67, 808-09. For the first time, Mr. Kayser noticed the car near the entrance to the property. When the man got to the car, he stood there with something in his hand. He looked again at Mr. Kayser. Mr. Kayser said again, "I'm counting to five." The man got into the car and made some motion toward the windshield with something in his hand. Again, Mr. Kayser was afraid he had a gun. RP 832-35.

Mr. Kayser fired a third shot into the air to his left, where he knew there was an open field. RP 835-36. Mr. Kayser wanted the man off his property and away from his wife. RP 870, 888, 894-95. He believed the man was trespassing and threatening them. RP 875.

The man drove quickly off, squealing his tires on the road. Mr. Kayser closed the gate to his property. RP 858-59.

Back in his office, Mr. Kayser tapped a "Memorandum on Trespassing Incident," quickly setting down his memory of the incident. Ex. 105.

c. Police Response

Mark Adams, the long-haired process server who never identified himself to Mr. Kayser or Ms. Young, drove down the road, pulled over and called 911. He told the police a man had just shot at

- 9 -

him. When a deputy sheriff arrived, he said Mr. Kayser pointed the gun at him and fired the second shot at him and his car. Although he later admitted in an interview and his trial testimony that all the shots were fired into the air, he did not tell the police that. RP 343-51.

Sgt. Mede of the Whatcom County Sheriff's Office assembled the SWAT team. Eight officers surrounded Mr. Kayser's property. RP 384-85, 394-Sgt. Mede phoned Det. Sgt. Sean Crisp who 95. lived adjacent property on to ask for "intelligence" about the "target residence." RP Detective Crisp knew Mr. Kayser and Ms. 587. Young; he had attended their wedding and been to their home. His neighbors were not dangerous. Не told the officers to call Mr. Kayser and ask him to come outside. RP 595-624.

When called, Mr. Kayser came outside. He was very cooperative. He was no danger to anyone. RP 479-80, 595-600. He brought his Memorandum on Trespassing Incident. Ex. 105. He told Sgt. Mede he shot only in the air. RP 588-94.

Deputy King handcuffed him and put him in his patrol car. Mr. Kayser told him he saw a man

talking to his wife, standing too close to her. When Mr. Kayser came out, the man gave him paperwork, asked him to sign it. Mr. Kayser told him to leave. When he wouldn't leave, Mr. Kayser got his gun. When he still wouldn't leave, he fired the gun twice in the air. Then the man got in his car and left as he fired a third shot in the air. RP 396-98. All the shots were in the air. RP 471-72.

d. Sgt. Mede and Ms. Young

Ms. Young came out of her home with her hands up, per orders the police shouted through a bullhorn. RP 776. Sgt. Mede stood with Ms. Young in the driveway. Ms. Young told him her husband warned the man that he had five seconds to get off the property; he did not say or he would shoot him. RP 804-06. Sgt. Mede claimed she said Mr. Kayser said, "You have five seconds to get off my property or I will shoot you." RP 1015-16.

The officer told Ms. Young her husband shot at the man. Ms. Young knew that wasn't true and didn't understand why they were arresting Mr. Kayser. When she said her husband didn't shoot at the man, the officer became "very strong," "loud and insistent" that he had shot at the man. RP 768-71. Sgt. Mede told her it was a crime to threaten to shoot someone then fire a weapon. RP 1015-16. Ms. Young told Sgt. Mede her husband did not threaten to shoot the man. RP 803-05. Although Sgt. Mede had taken a written statement from another witness, he didn't offer to take one from Ms. Young. RP 1017.

e. Search of Office

Mr. Kayser said the gun was behind the door in his office; he offered to get it for the police. When Mr. Kayser declined permission to search the office, the officers got a warrant. RP 423-25.

During the search, among many papers all over Mr. Kayser's very large office, police photographed a handwritten note taped on the inside of a window shutter. The note began with "Stop" drawn in something like a stop sign shape. "Do not ... without permission of owner <u>and</u> an appointment. This is a very dangerous place." The exhibit is a photograph. It did not capture the original text covered by post-it notes, which added "armed response." RP 456-58, 482; Ex. 90-91. The note faced into the office, not outside. Mr. Adams never saw it. RP 427-32.

The defense objected to admitting this exhibit under ER 404(a) and (b). Counsel also objected that it was not within the scope of the search warrant, as it was not a long gun, shells, or a document of dominion or control. RP 429-32.

The court ruled it was in plain view during a lawful search, and so admissible. RP 432.

Deputy King told the jury they found signs that were "interesting and relevant:" "Stop. This is a very dangerous place. Armed response." RP 456.

After Deputy King testified to this note, the defense again objected and moved for a mistrial. The judge acknowledged she had misunderstood: she thought the note was visible from the exterior of the office door. The State admitted it was only visible inside the office. RP 640-46. The court acknowledged it had allowed the testimony and could not "unring the bell." It concluded the note was not a "bad act." The note was consistent with Mr. Kayser being a cautious and private man, concerned with safety, and so it was not prejudicial. The court adhered to its original ruling and denied a mistrial. RP 661-65.

2. PROCEDURAL FACTS

a. Pre-Trial

The court released Mr. Kayser on bond pending trial. For over three years before trial, Mr. Kayser remained out of custody in complete compliance with every condition. CP 197.

The State offered plea resolutions, including dismissing the firearm enhancement and reducing the charge to three misdemeanors of reckless endangerment with 12 months probation and an anger management class. Mr. Kayser believed he had violated no law, that his acts were justified. He declined to plead guilty to any crime. CP 198.

b. Trial

i. Motions in limine

The defense moved in limine to exclude all witnesses before they testified, including Detective Allgire who sat at counsel table with the prosecutor. The defense argued the Whatcom County Sheriff's Office is not a party; permitting the detective at counsel table would bolster the State's case. The court denied the motion. RP 23-28.

The court introduced the parties to the jury:

The Prosecuting Attorneys' Office represents the State of Washington and with the prosecuting attorney is a detective who is also representing the State of Washington in this procedure....

RP 81.

.

ii. Self-defense and defense of property

The prosecutor told the jury in opening statement there is no law against trespassing for a process server. "You're allowed to go on to property to serve process. It's something that you're just allowed to do." RP 223-24.

The defense theory was that Mr. Kayser did not intentionally assault Mr. Adams; he was acting to protect his wife, himself, and to get Mr. Adams off his property. Defense counsel described Mr. Kayser's fears and his goal for Mr. Adams to "leave my property" in opening statement. RP 239.

Deputy King admitted he would be alarmed if a stranger came onto his property, was snooping around, and didn't come to the door. RP 485-86. He testified Mr. Adams told him he had introduced himself when he went on the property, RP 492, although Mr. Adams testified he had not. RP 260-61. Defense counsel established on crossexamination that if a process server remains on property without permission after completing service, it is a trespass. RP 490.

iii. Additional trial testimony

Mr. Adams came to serve а summons and complaint on Mr. Kayser, his "Jane Doe" wife, and two corporations. He had no reason to believe Mr. Kayser would avoid service. RP 330-31. Yet he did not approach the residence. RP 323. He walked around the pole shed, knocking on doors and peering into windows, some of which were boarded over. RP 327, 355, 364. His boss then called his cell phone to see if he had completed service yet; the client was unusually impatient. RP 257-58, 306.

Signatures are not required to prove service, but Mr. Adams asked Mr. Kayser to sign. He had opened the metal box he was carrying. Mr. Kayser said no, "you have five seconds to get off my property." RP 267-68, 334-35, 342, 738.

Mr. Kayser jogged back to the building and returned with a shotgun. Mr. Adams testified he walked toward his car but did not run. He heard Mr. Kayser count. At "five," he shot into the air. RP 271.

Mr. Adams walked faster. Mr. Kayser remained where he was. Mr. Adams saw Mr. Kayser lower the gun then lift it up again, to about a 20° angle. When Mr. Adams was in his car but had not yet put the keys in the ignition, Mr. Kayser fired the gun a second time. Mr. Adams started his car as Mr. Kayser was still counting. As the car backed up, Mr. Kayser fired a third shot, again up over the car, at a higher angle than the second shot. RP 272-75.

Mr. Adams testified all the shots were fired into the air. RP 343. He testified he did not see Mr. Kayser point the gun at him. RP 271.

Although he testified the second shot "was kind of pointed in my general direction, I don't think it was intentional at this point." RP 350. During a defense interview, he said the first shot was nearly vertical, the second and third shots were at least at a 45° angle. RP 988-94.

Mr. Adams drove off the property, down the road, and called 911. Police arrived within five minutes. He told the police the second shot had been at him and his car. He did not tell the police Mr. Kayser shot over the car, as he testified. RP 344-51.

Dawn Demmer and her son were walking past Mr. Kayser's property when they heard a voice counting loudly. Then they heard gunshots. Ms. Demmer saw the gun. It was pointed at the sky. RP 366-74. Jesse Demmer saw the gun pointed to the sky both before and after the second shot. RP 375-78.

Brad Benard lived across the road and two properties over from Mr. Kayser's. At trial he recalled back about four years that he and Randy Weir were outside and heard a whistling sound over their heads. Mr. Benard was on a ladder. It was a gunshot traveling west. The men ducked and got behind a barn. They didn't testify to any other shots. They didn't call the police. People in the area frequently shoot guns. RP 537-51, 606.

Det. Allgire testified as an expert with firearms, ballistics and trajectories. He didn't speak with Mr. Benard until June, 2013 -- 3-1/2 years after the incident. He marked on a map the distance between Mr. Kayser's and Mr. Benard's properties, drew a line from one to the other, and noted the relative heights of each property. He testified to the distance from Mr. Kayser's property to Mr. Benard's. RP 625-39; Ex. 116.

Det. Allgire met with Mr. Adams twice at the prosecutor's office, but did not keep any records of those meetings or of Mr. Adams's comments. The witness drew diagrams on a whiteboard, which they erased without preserving. He agreed Mr. Adams's drawing at trial was different from his initial statement to the police. RP 681-86. Nonetheless, Det. Allgire testified Mr. Adams did not "change" his testimony about shooting into the air. RP 697-98, 700-01.

c. Jury Instructions

The defense proposed a justifiable use of force instruction that included self-defense, defense of others -- and defense of property:

The use of or the attempt to use force upon or toward the person of another is also lawful when used in preventing or attempting to prevent a malicious trespass or other malicious interference with real or personal property lawfully in that person's possession, and when the force is not more than is necessary.

CP 100. The defense also proposed instructions defining trespasser. CP 105-06. The State did not

- 19 -

propose an instruction on lawful use of force, but proposed to instruct that it is lawful to enter a property to serve legal process. CP 87.

The court initially indicated it would not give the third paragraph of WPIC 17.02 on defense of property, CP 100. The defense argued at length in favor of that provision. RP 915, 939-40, 948-50. The court directed defense counsel to prepare two versions of WPIC 17.02 -- one with defense of property and one without -- so the court would be prepared with whichever version it chose. RP 970. Defense counsel returned on Monday, November 25, with both versions. RP 979; CP 107-16.

The court now indicated it would give the self-defense instruction **including** the third paragraph on defense of property as Instruction No. 13. RP 1044. The defense excepted to the failure to instruct on trespass, and the court added them. RP 1045, 1048-52; CP 42-43. The prosecutor noted with defense of property, they also needed an instruction defining malicious. RP 1055-56.

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