71518-6

FILED
June 3, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

No. 71518-6-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

 \mathbf{v}_{ullet}

STEVEN KAYSER, Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DAVID S. McEACHRAN, Whatcom County Prosecuting Attorney By KIMBERLY THULIN Appellate Deputy Prosecutor Attorney for Respondent WSBA #21210 / ADMIN. #91075

Whatcom County Prosecutor's Office 311 Grand Avenue, Second Floor Bellingham, WA 98225 (360) 676-6784

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

The state has the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the force used by the defendant was not lawful. If you fine that the state has not proved the absence of this defense beyond a reasonable doubt, it will be your duty to return a verdict of not guilty.

CP 20-53, 59-61

Kayser contends for the first time on appeal, that the trial court failed to instruct the jury on the general intent required for criminal assault in the 'to convict' or assault definition instruction. Br. of App.at 45.

Kayser is precluded from objecting to the 'to convict' or the definitional instructions in this case because he failed to object below. RAP 2.5(a)(3), State v. O'Hara, 167 Wash. 2d 91, 217 P.3d 756 (2009), as corrected (Jan. 21, 2010), . Therefore, short of Kayser demonstrating the alleged jury instruction error is an manifest error of constitutional magnitude, Kayser may not assert this error for the first time on appeal.

An Error is 'manifest' pursuant to RAP 2.5 if Kayser can demonstrate the error resulted in 'actual' prejudice, meaning that the defendant has made a plausible showing that the alleged error "had practical and identifiable consequences in the trial below. O'Hara, 167 Wash. 2d at 108. If Kayser cannot demonstrate how the alleged error actually affected his fundamental rights at trial, his challenge is barred.

State v. Scott, 110 Wash. 2d 682, 688, 757 P.2d 492 (1988). Furthermore, even if this court determines the error alleged is manifest, it may still be subject to harmless error analysis. McFarland, 127 Wash. 2d, 333.

Here, the 'to convict' instruction included all of the essential elements of the charged crime. When a defendant asserts self-defense and meets his burden by a preponderance of the evidence to put forth such a defense, the state then has the burden to prove beyond a reasonable doubt

that the defendant did not act in self-defense. <u>State v. Walden</u>, 131 Wash. 2d 469, 473-74, 932 P.2d 1237 (1997).

Self-defense negates the 'intent' element of the charged crime.

See, State v. Acosta, 101 Wash. 2d 612, 615, 683 P.2d 1069 (1984). Thus, the 'to convict' jury instructions are sufficient if the 'to convict' instruction sets forth the elements of the charged crime, in this case assault in the second degree so long as a separate instruction defining self-defense explains the defense, including that the state has the burden to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Kayser did not acted with intent to commit a crime and not in self-defense. State v. Hoffman, 116 Wash. 2d 51, 109, 804 P.2d 577 (1991), State v. Ng, 110 Wash. 2d 32, 750 P.2d 632 (1988). In Acosta, 101 Wash. 2d at 615, the appellate court confirmed that a separate instruction stating that the state has the burden of proving the absence of self-defense beyond a reasonable doubt is the preferable practice to ensure the jury understands the state has the burden of proving the absence of such defense beyond a reasonable doubt. Id. at 622.

In addition to setting forth the required essential elements in the 'to convict' instruction, the instructions in this case as a whole, correctly define and explain the requisite mens rea applicable to the charged offense in the context of a self-defense claim. Therefore, the state was not relieved

of its burden of proving all of the elements of the charged offense. Under these circumstances, the defendant cannot show that the error Kayser alleges had any practical or identifiable consequences. Therefore, pursuant to O'Hara, RAP 2.5, Kayser should be precluded from challenging the 'to convict' and definitional instructions for the first time on appeal.

Even if reviewable, contrary to Kayser's argument, the 'to convict' instruction in this case did not omit an essential element of the charge by not stating the assault must be intentional when the term 'assault' itself encapsulates the element of intent. Scott, 110 Wash. 2d 682. Moreover, the jury was given the definition of assault in the context of an assault in the second degree and appropriately instructed the jury on the law regarding self-defense such that a reasonable jury would understand that the state had the burden to prove beyond a reasonable doubt Kayser assaulted Adams, without lawful force, and that simply proving Kayser acted with intent to create apprehension and fear of bodily harm would not be enough to find Kayser guilty.

An assault, by its inherent definition is an intentional act. Assault "is not commonly understood as referring to an unknowing or accidental act." State v. Davis, 119 Wash. 2d 657, 835 P.2d 1039 (1992). Thus, the Davis court held the term assault "adequately conveys the notion of

intent," necessarily "includes the element of intent." <u>Id</u> at 663, *citing* <u>State</u> <u>v. Hopper</u>, 118 Wash. 2d 151, 158-59, 822 P.2d 775 (1992).

In a footnote, Kayser contends that the common understanding and definition of assault as inherently encapsulating that the act must be intentional, does not work in the context of reviewing the sufficiency of a jury instruction using the term "assault." Br. of App. at 46. However, our State Supreme Court in <u>State v. Taylor</u> rejected this argument:

Application of a strict standard of review does not alter the plain meaning of "assault." This Court has held that the word "assault" conveys and intentional or knowing act. Applying the different standards of construction requires the court to judge the sufficiency of the charging documents as a whole with different levels of scrutiny, but the standards to not require the court to give words different meanings depending on the standard of construction applied.

State v. Taylor, 140 Wash. 2d 229, 242, 996 P.2d 571 (2000).

Kayser next contends, that even if the 'to convict' instruction was adequate, the definition instruction further defining the term 'assault' is not sufficient in the context of a self-defense case because it did not require the jury to find Kayser acted with intent to use unlawful force . Br. of App. at 47.

In contrast to Kayser's argument however, the jury was fully instructed that that an *Assault* is an act, done with *unlawful force* done

with intent to create in another apprehension and fear of bodily injury which in fact creates in another reasonable apprehension and imminent fear of bodily injury even though the actor did not actually intend to inflict bodily harm. CP 20-53. This definitional instruction sufficiently sets forth all of the essential elements of this offense such that Kayser cannot challenge it for the first time on appeal. Scott, 110 Wash. 2d 682. In Scott, the reviewing court held the failure of a trial court to further define an element is not within the scope of the constitutional rule provided pursuant to RAP 2.5(a). Thus, Kayser's failure to object below precludes further review because the instructions given accurately set forth all of the essential elements of the crime.

The term assault, by its common understanding connotes an intentional, purposeful act. This is consiststent with other assault statutes and the WPIC "to convict" instructions. For example, first-degree assault requires intent to inflict great bodily harm but neither the statute or the "to convict" instruction uses or requires the phrase "intentionally assaults." See. Wash. Rev. Code Ann. § 9A.36.011(a) (b) (West), WPIC 35.02, 35.04, See also, RCW 9A.36.021(e)(third degree assault), WPIC 35.21, RCW 9A.36.031 (fourth degree assault), WPIC 35.26. In fact, the only subsection of RCW 9A.36.021 that mentions 'intentionally' is subsection

(1)(a) and (b), subsections not applicable here. The inclusion of 'intentionally' in those sections, absent from the applicable section (1)(c), is to make apparent the different mens rea required for the act versus the mens rea for the harm inflicted, that the defendant "recklessly inflicts substantial bodily harm. RCW 9A.36.011. In this case the mens rea for the act, inherent in the use of the term 'assault' is the same as the mens rea required for the intended harm, that the assault was made with unlawful force done with intent to create in another apprehension and fear of bodily injury, and which in fact creates in another a reasonable apprehension and imminent fear of bodily harm even though the actor did not actually intend to inflict harm.

The use of the 'unlawful force' term in the assault definitional jury instruction relates directly to the complete self-defense instruction wherein the jury was instructed that the state had the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the force used by Kayser in assaulting Adams by pointing and shooting a weapon at Mark Adams was not lawful. This instruction in conjunction with the 'to convict' and remaining instructions precludes any risk that a reasonable juror could find Kayser guilty of assault in the second degree had the jury determined Kayser assaulted Adams with 'lawful force' to protect him or his wife from being injured

even if the jury also determined Kayser intended the requisite harm —so long as the jury determined the force Kayser used was not more than necessary and reasonable under the circumstances known to Kayser at that time. Thus, the use of the term "assault" and "unlawful force" in the definitional instruction ensures a reasonable jury would have to find Kayser intentionally pointed and shot a weapon at Adams without lawful force, not just that Kayser acted with specific intent to create in another apprehension and fear of bodily harm by pointing and firing his shotgun, as suggested by Kayser.

Where the "to convict" instruction sufficiently set forth the essential elements of assault in the second degree, and the instructions as a whole are a correct statement of the law and Kayser did not object or propose alternative instructions, Kayser cannot demonstrate the issue he asserts constitutes a manifest error of constitutional magnitude warranting further review. RAP 2.5(a)(3). And even if Kayser's challenges to these definitional instructions were reviewable, his challenge fails. Instructions satisfy the requirement of a fair trial when, taken as a whole, they properly inform the jury of the applicable law, are not misleading and permit the defendant to argue his theory of the case. State v. Long, 19 Wash. App. 900, 902, 578 P.2d 871 (1978). Jurors are presumed to follow their instructions. State v. Lord, 117 Wash. 2d 829, 861, 822 P.2d 177 (1991).

4. The trial court acted within its discretion to admit relevant evidence, a picture of a mock up sign found in Kayser's office that tended to demonstrate Kayser' intentions in dealing with trespassers where the state had the burden of proving Kayser fired his shotgun the requisite intent to create an apprehension and fear of bodily injury in Adams beyond a reasonable doubt.

Next, Kayser challenges the admissibility pursuant to ER 404 (b), of a mock up of a sign found taped to the inside of Kayser's office where Kayser was working at the time of the event and where Kayser kept his shotgun. Br. of App. at 48. The trial court acted within its discretion in admitting this evidence where it could be helpful to the jury in determining Kayser's intentions at the time of the shooting and where this evidence does not constitute and was not introduced as impermissible character evidence pursuant to ER 404(b).

Evidence of other bad acts or crimes is not generally admissible to prove character and action in conformity with that character. ER 404(b) provides:

Evidence of other crimes, wrongs or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith.

It may, however, be admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan knowledge, identity or absence of mistake or accident.

To admit evidence pursuant to ER 404(b), the court must identify the purpose for which the evidence is admitted, determine the evidence is relevant to a material issue and its probative value must outweigh any prejudicial effect. State v. Everybodytalksabout, 145 Wash. 2d 456, 466, 39 P.3d 294 (2002), State v. Thang, 145 Wash. 2d 630, 642, 41 P.3d 1159 (2002).

In Everybodytalksabout the court held that the evidence of the defendant's character trait for being a leader was impermissible under ER 404(b), even though it was not misconduct evidence, because it was evidence of the defendant's character and was being used to prove that he acted in conformity with that character trait at the time of the murder to convict him as an accomplice to the murder. Id. at 468. Prior to Everybodytalksabout, the case law suggested impermissible ER 404(b) evidence was limited to evidence of other crimes or specific 'acts' of misconduct. See, State v. Brown, 132 Wash. 2d 529, 940 P.2d 546 (1997), as amended (Aug. 13, 1997), (evidence of defendant's contacts with two other women did not fall within purview of ER 404(b) because it did not involve a crime or misconduct); State v. Lough, 125 Wash. 2d 847, 889 P.2d 487 (1995)("purpose of ER 404(b) is to prohibit admission of evidence designed simply to prove bad character"). Following Everybodytalksabout, if the evidence in question was not characterized as

evidence of another crime or act of misconduct or such evidence is not impermissibly used to argue a defendant acted in comformity with alleged character evidence, such evidence did not fall within the scope of ER 404(b). Its admissibility is instead determined by its relevance.

The office sign admitted at trial does not constitute misconduct or a bad act under ER 404(b). Nor does it constitute impermissible character evidence. The sign in of itself, suggests nothing bad about Kayser's character. It simply is a mock up of a warning to persons entering Kayser's property or office without an appointment. Moreover, the state did not introduce this evidence or rely on its admission to show Kayser had bad character and acted accordingly. Particularly where the evidence is undisputed that Kayser responded to the alleged trespass situation by retrieving his shotgun from his office and firing it three times.

The sign was relevant. The sign was an indication from Kayser that he intended to deal with uninvited trespassers with an armed response. ER 404 (b), even if marginally applicable, permits admission of evidence such as the sign because it tends to demonstrate Kayser's intentions, his motive preparation and plan. State v. Dennison, 115 Wash. 2d 609, 628, 801 P.2d 193 (1990). Relevant evidence is "evidence having a tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the

action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence. State v. Stenson, 132 Wash. 2d 668, 701, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997). Proof that Kayser responded with a shotgun did not itself conclusively establish the requisite intent for the charged crime. Thus, Kayser's intent was squarely an issue for the trier of fact. Under these circumstances, the trial court did not abuse its discretion admitting photographs of Kayser's mock up office sign.

Kayser relies on State v. Hanson, 46 Wash. App. 656, 662, 731 P.2d 1140 (1987), to support his assertion the trial court erred admitting picture of this sign found in Kayser's office. In Hanson the trial court erred permitting the state to cross examine the defendant about writings that depicted incidents of violence. The reviewing court found where there was no connection between the charged crime and the fiction and where such evidence was highly prejudicial, the trial court erred admitting the evidence.

Here, unlike in <u>Hansen</u>, there was a connection between the mock up sign and the alleged assault. The sign was posted in Kayser's office where he kept his shot gun behind the entry way door to Kayser's office. The language on the face of the sign appeared to be warning trespassers or uninvited persons of the intended response they should expect if they came onto Kayser's property without an appointment. This evidence was

therefore highly probative to Kayser's plans to respond to trespassers in an armed manner.

Moreover, the sign itself, unlike the fictional writings in <u>Hanson</u>, were not by themselves prejudicial. Thus, even if error, this isolated error should be construed as harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Erroneous admission of ER 404(b) evidence requires reversal "only if the error, within reasonable probability, materially affected the outcome." <u>Everybodytalksabout</u>, 145 Wash. 2d at 469-70; <u>State v. Smith</u>, 106 Wash. 2d 772, 780, 725 P.2d 951 (1986). The error is harmless if the evidence is of minor significance compared to the overall evidence as a whole. <u>State</u> v. Bourgeois, 133 Wash. 2d 389, 945 P.2d 1120 (1997).

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